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Mr. Ghazi Ahmed Al-Osaimi 
Chairman

Mr. Mishal Naser Habib 
Vice Chairman & CEO
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Agenda of the Annual Ordinary 
General Assembly Meeting for the 
Fiscal Year Ended 31/12/2022 



Reciting of both:

1.The governance report for the fiscal year ending on 31/12/2022 which includes a table of the total remuneration 
granted to Board of Directors members, executive management and managers and approving the same.

2.The report of the Audit Committee for the fiscal year ending on 31/12/2022 and approving the same.

Reciting the penalties (financial or non-financial) that were imposed by the regulatory authorities during the 
financial year ended 31/12/2022 (if any).

Discussing the report of the auditor Deloitte & Touche (Al Wazzan & Co.) for the financial year ended 
31/12/2022 and approving the same.

Discussing the annual financial statements for the financial year ended 31/12/2022.

Discussing deduction of 10% from net profit to the obligatory reserve, for a total amount of KD 1,188,467.

Discussing deduction of 1% from net profit to the voluntary reserve, for a total amount of KD 118,845.

Discussing the Board of Directors’ recommendation to distribute 5% cash dividends of the nominal value of the 
share, i.e. 5 fils per share for the financial year ended 31/12/2022 for the shareholders registered in the company’s 
records on the date of the Annual General Meeting.

Approving the Board of Directors’ recommendation of not to distribute remuneration to the Board of Directors for 
the financial year ended 31/12/2022. 

Authorizing the Board of Directors to buy or sell the Company's shares by not more than 10% of the number of 
shares in accordance with the provisions of Law No. 7 of 2010 and its Executive Regulations and their amendments.

Listening to a report on transactions with related parties during the financial year ended 31/12/2022 and 
authorizing the Board of Directors to deal with the related parties until the date of the next General Assembly for 
the financial year ended 31/12/2023.

Approving discharging the members of the Board of Directors in respect of their financial, administrative and 
legal actions for the financial year ended 31/12/2022.

Approving the authorization to grant loans or provide facilities to Board of Directors members during the fiscal 
year 2023 – in accordance with the same conditions and rules that the company applies to third parties, and in 
accordance with the instructions of the regulatory authorities in this regard.

Discussing the allocation of an amount of KD 2,500 (Two Thousand Five Hundred Kuwaiti Dinars only) for the 
social responsibility for the fiscal year ended 31/12/2023 and the delegation of the Chief Executive Officer to 
determine the entity to be disbursed.

Approving appointment or re-appointment of Company's auditor within the list of accredited auditors of the 
Capital Market Authority - taking into consideration the period of mandatory change of auditor - for the financial 
year ending on 31/12/2023 and authorizing the Board of Directors to determine his fees. 
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10-
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12-

13-

14-

15-

Discussing the Board of Directors report for the financial year ended 31/12/2022 and approving the same. 

Approving the appointment of a member of the Board of Directors to the board of directors membership of Kuwait 
Investment Company & approving the appointment of a member of the Board of Directors to the board of directors 
membership of Gulf Custody Company and to a position in The Kuwait Financial Centre Company pursuant to 
Article 197 of the Companies Law.

16-

Election of company’s Board of Directors for the next three-year term.17-



Chairman Message 

Dear Valued Shareholders, 

I am pleased to present to you, on behalf of my colleagues board members, the annual report and financial statements of the company 

for the year ended 31 December 2022. 

The upward trend in interest rates at an unprecedented pace has led the monetary authorities represented by central banks to confront 

the prevailing global inflation that deteriorates the financial markets around the world and brings volatility to its indicators as well as the 

its price levels. The repercussions of the Russian-Ukrainian war are still continuing, which were reflected in the global supply chains, 

especially goods, and the strict closures imposed by China on technological supply chains and many basic materials and components for 

various industries during the past year, as all of these factors were exacerbated with the sanctions imposed on Russia on both the global 

economy and growth prospects. 

For the company, KPFI achieved a net profit of 949,546 Kuwaiti dinars during the year 2022 compared to a net profit of 3,521 million 

Kuwaiti dinars in 2021, with a decrease rate of 73% due to both of the decrease in the associate company’s profit by 81% compared to 

last year and taking an impairment of an associate company’s value. The company's assets amounted of 43.068 million Kuwaiti dinars, 

and the company's shareholders equity amounted of 33.679 million Kuwaiti dinars by the end of the year 2022. The company’s board of 

directors has recommended distributing dividend of 5% (5 fils per share) for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2022. 

As every year, the board of directors, in coordination with the Executive Management, has followed up the work and implement the 

company’s investment and risk management strategy, especially during the instability of global markets and economic challenges, as well 

as fears of an imminent global recession. Locally, the company has reallocated some of the assets of its investment portfolio by increasing 

the percentage of its ownership in Amar for Finance and Leasing Company to reach 11.76%, in addition to exiting from some investments 

listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange. Regionally, praise be to God, a subsidiary company, “Bobian Real Estate Company,” was established 

in the United Arab Emirates to manage and lease Al-Mubarakiya Tower, which its leasing ratio reached 100% by the end of 2022. 

Internationally, the company's management closely monitors the performance of the American, European and Gulf global financial 

markets to choose the appropriate time to invest in these markets and target vital sectors in order to diversify the financial assets that 

constitute the company's investment portfolio and to achieve the best investment returns. 

At the associate company level during the year, Kuwait Financial Center Company achieved a net profit for the shareholders of the parent 

company amounting of 2.861 million KD, equivalent to 6 fils earnings per share. The company’s Board of Directors also proposed 

distributing cash dividends to the company’s shareholders at a rate of 5%, (5 fils per share) for the fiscal year ended on 31/12/2022, and 

the General Assembly approved this distribution. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors and on my own behalf, I would like to extend my sincere thanks and gratitude to H.H. Sheikh Nawaf 

Al-Ahmed Al-Jaber Al-Sabah the Amir of Kuwait, H.H. Sheikh Mishal Al-Ahmad Al-Sabah, the Crown Prince of Kuwait; H.H. Sheikh 

Sabah Al-Khaled Al-Sabah, the Prime Minister; and all the regulators, asking God, to safeguard them all and bless their continuous 

endeavors and support aimed at achieving prosperity and progress of our country’s economy at all levels. I would also like to extend my 

thanks to our valued shareholders for their confidence and continuous support to the company management. In addition, I extend my 

thanks to the company's staff for their efforts to achieve the business plans. 

Ghazi Al-Osaimi 

Chairman 
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Executive Management Report 

Annual Report & Financial Statements 2022 

Dear Valued Shareholders, 

KPFI’s Management is pleased to present you the annual report and financial statements of the company for the fiscal year ended 31 

December 2022. 

Key Financial Highlights in 2022 

Keys Events in 2022 

The company’s management keened to maintain the quality of the financial assets that constitute the company’s investment portfolio 

through reallocation and positioning the company’s investments as follows: 

- Exiting from some local investments listed in Kuwait Stock Exchange. 

- Increasing the company’s ownership percentage in Amar Finance & Leasing Company from 2% to 11.76%. 

- Subscription of the capital increase of the National Industries Group Holding Company. 

- Reallocating the investment in bonds which provide higher returns issued by a major local investment group. 

Sharjah Real Estate Project (Al-Mubarakiya Tower) 
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Statement 2022 2021 Percentage Change% 

2,010 4,798 -58% 

161 217 -26% 

43,068 43,787 -1.6% 

9,389 9,314 0.8% 

33,679 34,473 -2.3% 

4,015 4,524 -11.3% 

949 3,522 -73% 

3.2 11.7 -72.6% 

112 115 -6.2% 

Investments gains  

Interests income 

Total assets 

Total liabilities 

Shareholders' equity 

Retained earnings 

Net profit 

Earnings per share (fils) 

Book value (fils) 

 Figures in thousands 

- In 2015, the company purchased a plot of land of approximately 1,000 square meters in the Al Nahda area in the Emirate of 

Sharjah, United Arab Emirates to build a residential project, which is a residential investment tower consisting of a ground floor, 

five floors allocated for parking, and 18 residential floors (a total of 24 floors). The area of Al Nahda was chosen due to its 

commercial and residential characteristic and it’s proximate close to the Emirate of Dubai, which facilitates transportation and 

increases the attractiveness of Al Nahda as a housing option for people working in Dubai.   

- The project was completed with a 100% of completion rate during the last quarter of 2021. 

- The tower was named “Al-Mubarakiya Tower “and the leasing process began during the first quarter of 2022. 
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- The occupancy rate reached 100% in Al-Mubarakiya Tower before the end of 2022, praise be to God. 

- For the purpose of managing Al-Mubarakiya Tower KPFI has established a company named Bobian Real Estate Company for 

leasing and management services of private properties in United Arab Emirates. 

Overview of the Kuwaiti Economy 

The International Monetary Fund forecasts indicated that the growth for the Kuwaiti economy, as real gross domestic product 

recording a growth of 8.7% in 2022 and 2.6% in 2023. 

By the end of February 2023, the eleventh month of the current fiscal year 2023/2022, the average price of Kuwaiti oil per barrel 

reached about $ 83.2, which is higher by about $ 3.2 per barrel, or about 4% than the new assumed price estimated in the current 

budget which is $ 80 per barrel and higher than the average assumed price rate for the previous fiscal year of $ 45 per barrel. The last 

fiscal year 2021/2022, which ended at the end of last March, achieved an average price per barrel of Kuwaiti oil of about $ 79.9, and 

the average price of a barrel for February 2023 was about 2.4% higher than the average price of a barrel for the previous fiscal year, 

and about $ 2.8 higher per barrel than the new break-even price for the current budget of $ 80.4 according to estimates ($ 75 before 

the adjustments ) of the Ministry of Finance, and after stopping the deduction of 10% of total revenues for the benefit of the Future 

Generations Reserve. This is according to the ALSHAL weekly economic report, issue No. 9, for the month of March 2023. 

It is likely that the general budget will record a surplus for the current fiscal year 2022/2023 of 4.932 billion Kuwaiti dinars, but the 

dominant and only factor remains the oil revenues. There is only one month left until the end of the current fiscal year, during which 

it is not expected that there will be a noticed change in the level of oil prices or the level of production, so the budget surplus is likely 

to stabilize at around 5 billion Kuwaiti dinars. 

Fitch Ratings affirmed Kuwait's sovereign credit rating at (-AA) with stable future outlook. This rating reflects the exceptionally 

strong fiscal and external balance sheet of the country while reflects also the frequent institutional gridlock and political constraints 

on reforms that would address fiscal and structural challenges stemming from heavy oil dependence, the generous welfare state and 

its large public sector.  

Financial Sector 

After the Kuwait Stock Exchange ended the year 2021 trading as one of the best performing markets in the Gulf Cooperation Council 

countries, the general market index ended the year 2022 trading at the level of 7,292.1 points, achieving limited gains of 3.5%. The 

Premier Market Index, with a large market capitalization, came at the top of the Kuwaiti indices, with gains reached 6.2% during the 

year supported by the positive performance of its 11 stocks that constitute the index. On the other hand, the main market index, 

which mainly represents small and medium-sized stocks, recorded a decline of 4.9%, while the main 50 market index, the most liquid, 

12

lost 6.4% of its value. The total market value of the Stock Exchange reached 47.1 billion Kuwaiti dinars at the end of the year, 

compared to 42.0 billion Kuwaiti dinars at the end of last year, i.e. a growth of 12.3%. 

Overview of the Global Economy 

Global growth is expected to decline from an estimated 3.4% in 2022 (from the International Monetary Fund) to 2.9% in 2023 and 

then rise to 3.1% in 2024. The 2023 forecasts represent an increase of 0.2 percentage points, although below the historical average of 

3.8% (from 2000–2019). Economic activity continues to suffer because of raising interest rates by central banks in order to combat 

inflation and the Russian war in Ukraine. 

The rapid spread of Covid-19 in China has led to weakening the growth in 2022, but the recent reopening of the economy has paved 

the way for a faster-than-expected recovery. Expectations indicate a decline in global inflation from 8.8% in 2022 to 6.6% in 2023 

and 4.3% in 2024, two rates that remain higher than pre-pandemic levels (from 2017-2019) by about 3.5%. 

The balance of risks remains tilted towards negative developments, but downside risks have declined. On the positive side, we could 

see a stronger boost from pent-up demand in many economies or a faster decline in inflation. On the negative side, serious health 

outcomes in China could restrain the recovery, the Russian war in Ukraine could escalate, and tight global financing conditions could 

worsen a critical debt situation. Financial markets may also begin to suddenly repricing interest rates in reaction to adverse news of 

inflation, while increasing geopolitical fragmentation could impede economic progress. 
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Global markets are witnessing a widespread decline globally 

After reaching record highs at the end of 2021, global stock markets recorded their first declines in four years in 2022, reflecting the 

repercussions spread throughout the world. The rise in prices of primary commodities continued to reinforce the headwinds facing 

companies around the world, which led to continued high inflation rates, which reached its highest levels recorded since several 

decades, and as a result central bank around the world raised interest rates, which in turn threatened economic growth over the years 

in the near term. 

The Morgan Stanley World Index fell by 19.5% during the year, in what is considered the largest decline recorded since the global 

financial crisis (2008), after most major stock markets witnessed losses at double-digit rates. The index showed a weak trend since the 

beginning of the year, and the conflict between Russia and Ukraine exacerbated the pace of losses. However, during the fourth quarter 

of 2022, the index began to achieve some recovery and recorded a growth of 9.4%, which contributed to compensating for part of 

the consecutive losses recorded during the first three quarters of the year. 

Turning to developed markets, the United States was the biggest loser this year, as the Standard & Poor's 500 index fell by 19.4% this 

year. At the US level, technology sector stocks suffered a strong hit during the year, mainly due to the rise in valuations at the 

beginning of the year. In addition, repeated warnings of the possibility of imminent recession over the coming year had negative 

effects on the performance of technology sector. 

European markets suffered double-digit declines, with the European STOXX 600 index falling by 12.9%, while the German DAX 

index fell by 12.3% this year, while the French CAC 40 index fell by 9.5%. 
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The company achieved a net profit of 949,546 KD compared to net profits of 3,521,897 KD for the year 2021, a decrease of 73% 

due to the decrease in the associate company’s profits in addition to taking an impairment for the decrease in the value of the 

investment in the associate company as well as investment properties. 

Performance of the Associate 

The main investment for the company - which is classified as an associate - remains its share in Kuwait Financial Center Company 

"Markaz". The company's total ownership of Kuwait Financial Center Company shares amounts to 149.912 million shares, which 

represents 29.7% of the company's shares. The associate company achieved net profits for the shareholders of the parent company 

amounting to approximately 2,861 million Kuwaiti dinars in 2022, compared to net profits amounting to approximately 14,988 million 

Kuwaiti dinars at the end of 2120, with a decrease rate of 81% due to the decline in the fair value of financial assets at fair value 

through profits and losses. The general assembly of the associate company also approved the distribution of cash dividends of 5% (5 

fils per share). 

Thanks and Gratitude 

At the end, I would like to extend my sincere thanks and gratitude to His Highness the Emir, Sheikh Nawaf Al-Ahmad Al-Jaber Al-

Sabah, His Highness the Crown Prince Sheikh Mishal Al-Ahmad Al-Sabah, His Highness the Prime Minister Sheikh Sabah Al-Khaled 

Al-Sabah and all the regulatory authorities for their efforts to achieve what is in the good and progress of our country at all levels. 

Thanks are due to our valued shareholders for their support, which we hope will continue further in the future, and to our esteemed 

clients for the trust they have placed in us. Also, I would like to thank the management team and all company employees for their 

efforts to implement current and future business plans. 

Mishal Nasser Habib 

Vice Chairman & CEO 

Company Performance 



Annual Report & Financial Statements 2022 14

Governance Report 
Kuwait Pillars for Financial 
Investment for the fiscal year 
ended 31/12/2022 









































Consolidated Financial Statements 
and Independent Auditor's Report 
For the year ended 31/12/2022



Contents Page
40
42
43
44
45
46
47

Independent Auditor's Report
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
Consolidated Statement of Income Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statement







Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022 

(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinar) 

Note 2022 2021 

Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 5 609,004 640,044

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6 9,062,993 7,164,204

Financial assets at fair value through OCI 6 4,862,403 3,978,006

Investments at amortized cost 7 648,628 648,628

Receivables and other debit balances 63,390 298,062

Investment in an associate 8 22,187,031 529,99723,

Investment properties 9 3,416,057 602,3273,

Finance receivables 10 2,198,780 4,145,711

Other assets 20,621 55,380

Total assets 43,068,907 3,787,6344

Liabilities and equity 

Liabilities 

Payables and other credit balances 11 1,089,383 1,164,207

Due to banks 12 8,300,000 8,150,000

9,389,383 9,314,207

Equity 

Share capital 13.1 30,000,000 30,000,000 

Share premium 697,235 697,235 

Statutory reserve 13.2 1,188,467 1,093,415

Voluntary reserve 13.3 118,845 109,340

Foreign currency translation reserve 8,281 714,34

Change in fair value reserve (7232,71 ) 315,454

Group’s share of an associate’s reserve (72,261,57 ) )8(2,426,74

Treasury shares 14 )40(6 )40(6

Gain from sale of treasury shares 146,663 146,663

Retained earnings  4,014,967 4,524,361

Total equity 33,679,524 34,473,427

Total liabilities and equity 43,068,907 3,787,6344

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Ghazi Ahmed Al Osaimi 
Chairman 

Mishal Nasser Habib 
Vice chairman & CEO 



Consolidated Statement of Income for the year ended 31 December 2022 

(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinar) 

Note 2022 2021 

Revenues  

Management fees  18 21,603 33,467

Investment income 15 2,534,896 893,160

Shares of results from an associate 8 853,198 4,474,873

Interest income 161,481 216,996

Rental income from investment property 184,511 82,042

Impairment on investment in associate 8 (1,079,081 ) -

Impairment of investment properties 9 (298,621 ) (569,455)

Other income 53,044 (60,610)

2,431,031 5,070,473

Expenses 

Staff costs  689,883 825,327

General and administrative expenses 316,873 271,450

Depreciation 136,104 81,074 

Interest expense 357,999 202,725 

Reversal of provision  (20,347) -

1,480,512 1,380,576

Profit before statuary deductions 9950,51 3,689,897

KFAS (973) -

BOD Remunerations - (168,000)

Net profit for the year 6949,54 3,521,897

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2022 

(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinar) 

2022 2021 

Net profit for the year 6949,54 3,521,897

Other comprehensive income items 

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to the consolidated 
statement of income 

Foreign currency translation differences  (6,066 ) 1,052

Group’s share of an associate’s reserves 165,171 (270,200)

159,105 (269,148)

Items that may be not reclassified subsequently to the consolidated 
statement of income 

Change in fair value of investments at FVOCI (548,171 ) 139,746

Total other comprehensive (loss( items (389,066 ) (129,402)

Total comprehensive income for the year 80560,4 3,392,495

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2022 
(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinar) 

Share 

Capital 

Share 

premium 

Statutory 

reserve 

Voluntary 

reserve 

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve 

Change in 

fair value 

reserve 

Group’s 

share of an 

associate 

reserve 

Treasury 

shares 

Gain from 

sale of 

treasury 

shares 

Retained 

earnings 

Total 

Balance as at 1 January 2021  30,000,000 697,235 724,425 72,441 13,295 175,708 )8(2,156,54 (484) 146,663 1,643,025 31,315,759

Net profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 3,521,897 3,521,897

Other comprehensive Income / loss items - - - - 1,052 139,746 (270,200) - - (129,402)

Total comprehensive Income / loss  - - - - 1,052 139,746 (270,200) - - 3,521,897 3,392,495

Effect of change in ownership percentage 

of subsidiaries in associate - - - - - - - - - (234,672) (234,672)

Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - - - )6(15 - - )6(15

Transfer to reserves - - 368,990 36,899 - - - - - (405,889) -

Balance as at 31 December 2021 30,000,000 697,235 1,093,415 109,340 14,347 315,454 )8(2,426,74 (640) 146,663 4,524,361 34,473,427

Balance as at 1 January 2022 30,000,000 697,235 1,093,415 109,340 14,347 315,454 (2,426,748 ) (640) 146,663 4,524,361 34,473,427

Net profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 949,546 949,546

Other comprehensive (loss) / income items - - - (6,066 ) (548,171 ) 165,171 - - - (389,066 )

Total comprehensive (loss) / income - - - - (6,066 ) (548,171 ) 165,171 - - 949,546 560,480

Effect of change in ownership percentage 

of subsidiaries in associate company - - - - - - - - - 145,483 145,483

Dividends paid (Note 17) - - - - - - - - - (1,499,866 ) (1,499,866 ) 

Transfer to reserves - - 95,052 9,505 - - - - - (104,557 ) - 

Balance as at 31 December 2022 30,000,000 697,235 1,188,467 118,845 18,28 (232,717 ) (72,261,57 ) (640) 146,663 74,014,96 33,679,524

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2022 

(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinar) 

Note 2022 2021 

Cash flow from operating activities 

Net profit for the year 949,546 3,619,897

Adjustments:  

Depreciation 130,205 81,074

Investment income 15 (2,534,896 ) (893,160)

Share of result from an associate 8 (853,198 ) (4,474,873)

Interest income (161,481 ) (216,996)

Provision (20,347 ) -

Impairment in associate 1,079,081 -

Impairment in investment properties 9 298,621 569,455

Interest expense 357,999 202,725

Operating losses before changes in working capital (754,470 ) (1,111,878)

Receivables and other debit balances  241,545 20,780

Finance receivables 1,967,278 40,837

Payables and other credit balances  (75,796 ) 360,809

Net cash generated / (used in) operating activities 1,378,557 (689,452)

Cash flow from investing activities 

Paid for purchase of investments through Profit and loss  (1,174,590 ) (6,083,482)

Paid for purchase of investments in OCI  (1,432,568 ) -

Proceeds from sale of investments through Profit and loss 1,142,941 2,022,328

Dividends received from an associate 1,427,737 -

Paid for addition to investment properties (474,477 ) (622,811)

Paid for purchase of property and equipment (20,011 ) (2,804)

Paid for purchase of investment held to maturity - (300,000)

Proceeds from investment held to maturity  - 1,394,485

Dividends received from Investment in securities  667,755 240,796

Interest income received 161,481 216,996

Net cash generated / (used in) from investing activities 298,268 (3,134,492)

Cash flow from financing activities 

Due to banks 150,000 2,540,000

Finance cost paid (357,999 ) (202,725)

Dividends paid (1,499,866 ) -

Paid for purchase of treasury shares - (156)

Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities (1,707,865 ) 2,337,119

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (31,040 ) (1,486,825)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 640,044 2,126,869

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 609,004 640,044

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 
(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinar unless otherwise stated) 

1. Incorporation and activities

Kuwait Pillars for Financial Investment-KSCC, the “Parent Company” is a Kuwaiti Shareholding Company
incorporated in Kuwait in 1998 and is regulated by the Central Bank of Kuwait and Capital Markets Authority.
The Parent Company was listed in the Kuwait Stock Exchange on 3 December 2008.  On 8 July 2016 based on
the shareholders extraordinary General Assembly meeting, the Company has voluntarily elected to delist from
Kuwait stock exchange effective from 1 March 2016. The Company has obtained the approval from CMA to
delist on 31 August 2015.

The objectives of the Parent Company are:

Financial investment operations in all economic sectors by all legal means deemed appropriate by the Parent
Company to achieve its objectives inside and outside Kuwait for its benefit or others, including:

- Sale and purchase of financial securities for the Company and others with no violation to provisions of law.

- Lending or borrowing and issuing bonds as per Law and financing the foreign trade operations.

- Carrying out financial brokerage operations and managing investments for others.

- Providing and preparing studies and technical, economic and revaluation consultancies, as well as studying
the related investment projects and preparing the necessary studies for those institutions and companies 
(provided the necessary conditions should be met). 

- Establishing or participating in the establishing of companies of all types, objectives and nationalities and 
deal in selling and purchasing of shares, bonds and financial rights of those companies. 

- Managing financial and real estate portfolios for the company and for others and investing and developing 
its customers’ funds through placing them in all aspects of local and global investment. 

- Investing in real estate, industrial, agricultural and other economic sectors either directly or by contributing 
in the establishment of specialized companies or purchasing shares or bonds of those companies in different 
sectors. 

- Establishing, managing and marketing investment funds of all types as per Law. 

- Carrying out the function of bonds issuing manager, which are issued by companies and authorities, and 
investment custodian’s functions. 

- Dealing and trading in the foreign exchange market and precious metals market inside and outside Kuwait 
for the company’s benefit only. 

- Providing all services that assist developing and supporting the ability of the financial and monetary market 
in Kuwait within limits of Law and as per CBK’s instructions and procedures through offering new trading 
financial instruments or providing consulting services to Kuwait Stock Exchange’s management and other 
services. 

- Executing the activities of investment controller. 

The Parent Company may have an interest or participate in any way in any entity that conducts similar business 
or which may assist it to achieve its objectives inside and outside Kuwait and it may also purchase such entities 
or affiliate thereof to it. 

The Parent Company’s registered office is at Al Qibla Tower, Fahed Al Salem Street, P.O Box 1346, Kuwait. 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 were authorized for issue by the 
Parent Company’s Board of Directors on 21 March 2023. The General Assembly for the shareholders has the 
authority to amend the consolidated financial statements after issuance. 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statement of the Parent Company and its 
subsidiaries, which are fully owned and mentioned below together referred to as “the Group”. 

Company Name Country of 
incorporation 

Principal activity Equity interest 
(%) 

Strategia Investors Inc. United States Investment manager and advisor 100 
Strategia Investors 
Service Limited  

Antigua and 
Barbuda 

Investment manager and advisor 
to real estate funds 100 

Bobian Real estate United Arab 
Emirates Real estate management 100 

For the purposes of consolidation, it had been relied on the audit financial statements of the Strategia Investors 
Inc. and the management accounts for other subsidiaries. The total assets of these subsidiaries amounted to 
KD 1,413,043 as at 31 December 2022 (KD 1,401,441 - 31 December 2021), and net loss amounted to 
KD 6,006 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (KD 831 for the year ended 31 December 2021). 
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2. Basis of preparation and Significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the regulations for financial
services institutions as issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait “CBK” and Capital Market Authority “CMA” in the
State of Kuwait. These regulations require expected credit loss (“ECL”) to be measured at the higher of the ECL
on credit facilities computed under IFRS 9 according to the CBK guidelines or the provisions as required by CBK
instructions; the consequent impact on related disclosures; and the adoption of all other requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”). (Collectively referred to as IFRS, as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for
measurement of financial assets at fair value.

2.2 New and revised accounting standards

2.2.1 Effective for the current year

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with
those used in the previous year except for the following new and amended IASB Standards during the year:

Standard, interpretation, 
amendments 

Description Effective 
date 

Amendment to IFRS 16, 
‘Leases’ – COVID-19 
related rent concessions 
Extension of the practical 
expedient 

As a result of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, rent 
concessions have been granted to lessees. In May 2020, the IASB 
published an amendment to IFRS 16 that provided an optional 
practical expedient for lessees from assessing whether a rent 
concession related to COVID-19 is a lease modification. On 31 
March 2021, the IASB published an additional amendment to 
extend the date of the practical expedient from 30 June 2021 to 
30 June 2022. Lessees can select to account for such rent 
concessions in the same way as they would if they were not lease 
modifications. In many cases, this will result in accounting for the 
concession as variable lease payments in the period(s) in which 
the event or condition that triggers the reduced payment occurs. 

Annual 
periods 
beginning on 
or after 
1 April 2021 

A number of narrow-
scope amendments to 
IFRS 3, IAS 16, IAS 37 and 
some annual 
improvements on IFRS 1, 
IFRS 9, IAS 41 and IFRS 16 

Amendments to IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’ update IFRS 3 
so that it refers to the 2018 Conceptual Framework instead of 
the 1989 Framework. They also add to IFRS 3 a requirement that, 
for obligations within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets, an acquirer applies IAS 37 to 
determine whether at the acquisition date a present obligation 
exists as a result of past events. For a levy that would be within 
the scope of IFRIC 21 Levies, the acquirer applies IFRIC 21 to 
determine whether the obligating event that gives rise to a 
liability to pay the levy has occurred by the acquisition date 
Amendments to IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ prohibit 
a company from deducting from the cost of property, plant and 
equipment amounts received from selling items produced while 
the company is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, 
a company will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in 
statement of income. 
Amendments to IAS 37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets’- Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 
The amendments specify that the cost of fulfilling a contract 
comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs 
that relate directly to a contract consist of both the incremental 
costs of fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct labour 
or materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate directly 
to fulfilling contracts (an example would be the allocation of the 
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and 
equipment used in fulfilling the contract). 
Annual improvements make minor amendments to IFRS 1, ‘First-
time Adoption of IFRS’, IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, IAS 41, 
‘Agriculture’ and the Illustrative Examples accompanying IFRS 
16, ‘Leases’. 

Annual 
periods 
beginning on 
or after 
1 January 
2022. 
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2.2.2 Standards issued but not yet effective 

At the date of authorization of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has not applied the 
following new and revised IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective: 
Standard, interpretation, 
amendments 

Description Effective date 

Amendments to IAS 1, 
Presentation of financial 
statements’, on 
classification of liabilities 

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities 
as current or non-current is based on rights that are in 
existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that 
classification is unaffected by expectations about whether 
an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a 
liability, explain that rights are in existence if covenants are 
complied with at the end of the reporting period, and 
introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that 
settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of 
cash, equity instruments, other assets or services. 

Note that the IASB has issued a new exposure draft 
proposing changes to this amendment. 

The IASB is currently considering further amendments to 
the requirements in IAS 1 on classification of liabilities as 
current or non-current, including deferring the application 
of the January 2020 amendments. 

Deferred until 
accounting 
periods starting 
not earlier than 
1 January 2024 

IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements and 
IFRS Practice Statement 2 
Making 

Materiality Judgements—
Disclosure of Accounting 
Policies 

The amendments change the requirements in IAS 1 with 
regard to disclosure of accounting policies. The 
amendments replace all instances of the term ‘significant 
accounting policies’ with ‘material accounting policy 
information’. Accounting policy information is material if, 
when considered together with other information included 
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be 
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of 
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of 
those financial statements.  
The IASB has also developed guidance and examples to 
explain and demonstrate the application of the ‘four-step 
materiality process’ described in IFRS Practice Statement 2. 

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2023 

Narrow scope 
amendments to IAS 1, IFRS 
Practice statement 2 and 
IAS 8 

The amendments aim to improve accounting policy 
disclosures and to help users of the financial statements to 
distinguish between changes in accounting estimates and 
changes in accounting policies. 

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2023 

Amendment to IAS 12- 
deferred tax related to 
assets and liabilities 
arising from a single 
transaction 

The amendments introduce a further exception from the 
initial recognition exemption. Under the amendments, an 
entity does not apply the initial recognition exemption for 
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible 
temporary differences. 

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2023. 

IFRS 17, ‘Insurance 
contracts’, as amended in 
June 2020 

This standard replaces IFRS 4, which currently permits a 
wide variety of practices in accounting for insurance 
contracts. IFRS 17 will fundamentally change the 
accounting by all entities that issue insurance contracts and 
investment contracts with discretionary participation 
features. 

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2023. 

The management do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material impact 
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group in future periods. 
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2.3 Significant Accounting Policies 

2.3.1 Basis of Consolidation 

Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Parent Company and entities 
controlled by the Parent Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company (a) has power 
over the investee (b) is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and 
(c) has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.  

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three components of controls listed above. 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Group losses control over subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of income or other comprehensive income from 
the date the Group gains control until the date when Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Parent 
Company and to the non-controlling interest. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the 
owners of the Parent Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance. 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. 

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over 
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and 
the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. 
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of 
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Parent 
Company. 

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss and is calculated as 
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of 
any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of 
the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.  

All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted 
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary. 

The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded 
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9, when applicable, the cost on 
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture. 

Business combinations 

Acquisitions of businesses combination are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration 
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the 
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the 
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the 
acquiree.  Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired, and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair 
value at the acquisition date, except deferred tax assets or liabilities, liabilities or equity instruments related 
to share based payment arrangements and assets that are classified as held for sale in which cases they are 
accounted for in accordance with the related IFRS. 

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), 
the excess is recognised immediately in consolidated statement of income as a bargain purchase gain.  

Non-controlling interests may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests' 
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. The choice of 
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.  
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When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree 
is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (the date when the Group obtains control) and the resulting 
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the 
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit 
or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed off. 

Investments in associates and joint ventures 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over 
those policies. 

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture.   Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control 
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent 
of the parties sharing control. 

The considerations taken in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to 
determine control over subsidiaries. The Group’s investments in its associate and joint venture are accounted 
for using the equity method. 

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at cost.  The 
carrying amount of the investment is adjusted in order to recognise the changes in the Group’s share of net 
assets of the associate or joint venture since the acquisition date. 

Goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture is included in the investment’s carrying amount and is 
neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment. The consolidated statement of income reflects the 
Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate or joint venture. Any change in OCI of those 
investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when there has been a change recognised 
directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when 
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from 
transactions between the Group and its associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest 
in the associate or joint venture. 

The aggregate of the Group’s share of results of an associate and a joint venture is shown on top of the 
consolidated statement of income off the operating profit and also represents the profit or loss after deducting 
tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate or joint venture. The financial statements 
of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary, 
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group. 

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an 
impairment loss on its investment in the associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group 
determines whether there is an objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is 
impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between 
the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value, then recognises the loss as 
‘Impairment of an associate or a joint venture’ in the consolidated statement of income. 

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any 
retained investment at its fair value.  Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint 
venture, upon loss of significant influence or joint control, and the fair value of the retained investment and 
proceeds from disposal is recognised in the consolidated statement of income. 

2.3.2 Financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value through consolidated statement of income) are added to or deducted from 
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through consolidated 
statement of income are recognised immediately in consolidated statement of income.  
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Financial assets 

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.  

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair 
value, depending on the classification of the financial assets.  

Classification of financial assets 

Classification and measurement of financial assets 

The Group classifies its financial assets as follows 

• Financial assets at amortised cost

• Financial assets fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)

• Financial assets fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

The classification of financial assets is based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and 
its contractual cash flow characteristics.  

Business model assessment 

The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial 
assets to achieve its business objective. The Group's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-
instrument basis but at a higher level of aggregated portfolios and is based on a number of observable factors. 
The information considered includes: 

• The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.

• The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and how those risks are managed; and

• The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations
about future sales activity.

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 
'stress case’ scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realized in a way that is different 
from the Group's original expectations, the Group does not change the classification of the remaining financial 
assets held in that business model but incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or 
newly purchased financial assets going forward. 

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and profit (SPPP test) 

The Group assesses the contractual terms of financial assets to identify whether they meet the SPPP test. 
‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and 
may change over the life of the financial asset. Profit is defined as consideration for time value of money and 
for the credit risk associated with the principal and for other basic lending risks and costs as well as a profit 
margin. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and profit, the Group 
considers whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of 
contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. The Group considers: 

• Contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;

• Leverage features;

• Prepayment and extension terms;

• Terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset
arrangements); and

• Features that modify consideration of the time value of money – e.g. periodical reset of profit rates.

Contractual terms that introduce a more than minimize exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual cash 
flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash flows that are 
solely payment of principal and profit. In such cases, the financial asset is measured at fair value through profit 
or loss. 
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Amortized cost and effective interest method 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant periods. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. For 
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated 
by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the amortized cost of the 
debt instrument on initial recognition. 

The amortized cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortized cost of a financial 
asset before adjusting for any loss allowance. 

Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortized cost and at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired 
financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For 
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognized by applying the 
effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the 
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of 
the financial asset. 

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Company recognizes interest income by 
applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset from initial 
recognition. 

The calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset subsequently 
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit impaired. 

Interest income is recognized in statement of income. 

Financial assets at FVTPL 

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortized cost or FVTOCI are measured 
at FVTPL. Specifically: 

• Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a business
combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

• Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at
FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 
gains or losses recognized in the statement of income to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging 
relationship. 

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI 

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to 
designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity 
investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business 
combination to which IFRS 3 applies.  

A financial asset is held for trading if: 

• It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
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• On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking.

Investments in equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction 
costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment’s revaluation reserve. The 
cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to statement of income on disposal of these investments, 
instead, they will be transferred to retained earnings.  

The Group has designated all investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading as at FVTOCI on 
initial application of IFRS 9.  

Foreign exchange gains and losses 

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically,  

For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive 
income in the investment’s revaluation reserve.  

Impairment of financial assets 

The Group applies the general approach to the creation of provisions against expected credit losses in 
accordance with IFRS 9 related to the financial instruments within cash and cash equivalents. The Group uses 
credit rating by external rating agencies to assess the credit risk exposure to these financial assets. These 
ratings are continuously monitored and updated. 

Credit facilities - (Finance Receivables) 

The CBK regulations require expected credit loss (“ECL”) to be measured at the higher of the ECL on credit 
facilities computed under IFRS 9 according to the CBK guidelines or the provisions as required by CBK 
instructions 

Provisions for credit losses in accordance with CBK instructions 

accordance with Central Bank of Kuwait instructions, a minimum general provision of 1% of all receivables net 
of certain restricted categories of collateral and not subject to specific provision. The specific provisions are 
recorded based on the duration of the past due of the Credit Facility as below, net of eligible collaterals: 

Category Criteria Specific provisions 
Substandard Irregular for a period of 91- 180 days 20% 
Doubtful Irregular for a period of 181- 365 days 50% 
Bad Irregular for a period exceeding 365 days 100% 

ECL provision under IFRS 9 according to the CBK guideline 

The ECL provision is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the Lifetime Expected 
Credit Loss or LT ECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which 
case, the allowance is based on the 12 months’ Expected Credit Loss (12m ECL). 

The 12m ECL is the portion of LT ECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a Credit 
Facilities that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. 

Both LT ECLs and 12m ECLs are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis, depending on the 
nature of the underlying portfolio of Credit Facilities.  

The Group has established policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether a 
Credit Facilities’ credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in the 
risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the Credit Facility.  

The Group classifies its Credit Facilities into Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3, as described below: 

Stage 1: 12-month ECL 

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to 12-month ECL on financial assets where there has 
not been significant increase in credit risk since their initial recognition or on exposures that are determined 
to have a low credit risk at the reporting date. The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk 
when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally recognised definition of ‘investment grade’. 

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL – not credit impaired 

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL on financial assets where there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but are not credit impaired. 
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Stage 3: Lifetime ECL – credit impaired 

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to 100% of net exposure i.e. after deduction from 
the amount of exposure value of collaterals determined in accordance with CBK guideline.  

Significant increase in credit risk 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has been significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over the remaining expected life from the 
reporting date with the risk of default at the date of initial recognition. The quantitative criteria used to 
determine a significant increase in credit risk is a series of relative and absolute thresholds. All financial assets 
that are more than 30 days past due are deemed to have significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition and migrated to stage 2 even if other criteria do not indicate a significant increase in credit risk. 

Credit Impaired 

At each reporting date, the Group also assesses whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is credit 
impaired. The Group considers a financial asset to be impaired when one or more events that have a/ 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred or when contractual 
payments are more than 90 days past due.  All credit impaired financial assets are classified as stage 3 for ECL 
measurement purposes. Evidence of credit impairment includes observable data about the following: 

• Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer

• A breach of contract such as default or past due event

• The lender having granted to the borrower a concession, that the lender would otherwise not consider, for
economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty

• The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties

• Purchase of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit loss

At the reporting date, if the credit risk of a financial asset or group of financial assets has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition or not credit impaired, these financial assets are classified as stage 1. 

Calculation of ECL 

The Group calculates ECL based on highest probable scenarios to measure the expected cash shortfalls, 
discounted at an approximation to the Effective Profit Rate. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash 
flows that are due to an entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to 
receive. 

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows: 

• The Probability of Default (“PD”) is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A
default may only happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the financial asset has not been
previously derecognized and is still in the portfolio. The Group uses point in time PD (PITPD) for each rating
to calculate the ECL. The minimum PD is 1% for Non-Investment Grade facilities and 0.75% for Investment
Grade financing facilities except for financing facilities granted to Government and banks rated as
Investment Grade by an external rating agency and financing transactions related to consumer and housing
financing.

• The Exposure at Default (“EAD”) is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and profit,
whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities. As per CBK
requirements, the Group applies 100% Credit Conversion Factor (CCF) on utilized cash.

• The Loss Given Default (“LGD”) is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a
given time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the
financier would expect to receive, including from the realisation of any collateral. It is usually expressed as
a percentage of the EAD.

Other than the above LGD estimation mechanics, the Group also complies with the guidelines mentioned in 
the CBK Instruction, as follows: 

• The Group applies minimum 50% LGD on unsecured Credit Facility and minimum 75% LGD for unsecured
subordinated financing receivable.

• The Group applies a minimum haircut to the collateral values as per CBK instructions.

As per Central Bank of Kuwait’s (CBK) instructions, the Group measures loss provisions at an amount equal to 
100% of net exposure i.e. after deduction from the amount of exposure to identified collaterals including 100% 
of loss given default of irregular payment (non-performing) cases as per CBK’s instructions concerning rules 
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and bases of classifying the credit facilities, investment and funding operations mentioned above as of the 
date of meeting the conditions of irregularity and/or based on the customer’s financial position. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the 
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Company retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.  

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset's carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in statement of income.  

Financial liabilities and equity instruments 

Classification as debt or equity 

Debt and equity instruments issued by an entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and 
an equity instrument. 

Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by an entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs. 

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain 
or loss is recognised in statement of income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group's own 
equity instruments. 

Financial liabilities 

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at 
FVTPL. 

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortized cost 

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-
for trading, or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral 
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected 
life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses 

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortised cost at the 
end of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortised 
cost of the instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the ‘other gains and losses’ 
line item in statement of income for financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid and payable, is recognized in statement of income. 

2.3.3 Investment properties 

Investment properties held by the Group are the properties held for capital appreciation or to earn rental 
income.  Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, investments properties are carried out at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.  
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Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on the building is calculated using the straight-line method to 
allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful life of 39 years. 

Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the investment 
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. 
The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of income in the year of derecognition. 

2.3.4 Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Cost 
includes the purchase price and directly associated costs of bringing the asset to a working condition for its 
intended use. Maintenance and repairs, replacements and improvements of minor importance are expensed 
as incurred. In situations, where it is clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in 
the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property and equipment 
beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditure is capitalized. 

Depreciation is calculated based on estimated useful life of the applicable assets. An asset’s carrying amount 
is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount. 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

2.3.5 Impairment of non-monetary assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amount of its tangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. 

If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss (if any). 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell or value in use.  Impairment 
losses are recognised in the statement of income for the period in which they arise. When an impairment loss 
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the extent that it does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

2.3.6 Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount 
has been reliably estimated.  Provisions are measured at the present value of the consideration expected to 
be required to settle the obligation using a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the obligation. 

2.3.7 End of service indemnity 

The Group is liable under Kuwait Labour Law to make payments under defined benefit plans to employees at 
termination of employment, regarding the labour in other countries; the indemnity is calculated based on law 
identified in these countries. Such payment is made on a lump sum basis at the end of an employee service. 
Defined benefit plan is un-funded and is based on the liability that would arise on involuntary termination of 
all employees on the financial position date. This basis is considered to be a reliable approximation of the 
present value of the Group’s liability.  

2.3.8 Revenue recognition 

Gain on sale of investments is recognised at the completion of the transaction. Dividend income is recognised 
when the right to receive payment is established. Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis 
based on the maturity dates of the related assets by using the effective yield method. Management and 
subscription fees are recognized when the services are provided. 
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2.3.9 Leases 

The Group as a lessee 

The Group assesses whether contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the Contract. The Group recognizes 
a right of use asset and a corresponding lease liability on the date on which the lessor makes the asset available 
for use by the Group (the commencement date).   

On that date, the Group measures the right of use at cost, which comprises of: 

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability.

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received

• any initial direct costs, and

• an estimate of costs to be incurred to restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease as a consequence of having used the underlying asset during a particular
period; this is recognised as part of the cost of the right of use asset when the Group incurs the obligation
for those costs, which may be at the commencement date or as a consequence of having used the asset
during a particular period.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments 
that are not paid at that date. On that date, the lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit 
in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses 
its incremental borrowing rate.  

Lease payments included in measurement of the lease liability comprise the following payments for the right 
to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date:  

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable

• variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate

• amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Payments associated with leases of short-term leases and low-value assets are recognized on a straight-line 
basis as an expense in statement of income. 

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on 
which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the 
lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-
use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce 
inventories. 

Subsequent Measurement 

After the commencement date, the Group measures the right-of-use asset at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the 
asset's useful life and the lease term. The Group determines whether a right of use asset is impaired and 
recognizes any impairment loss identified in the statement of income. The depreciation starts at the 
commencement date of the lease. 

The Company applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for an 
identified impairment loss. 

After the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability by increasing the carrying amount to reflect 
interest on the lease liability and reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payment made.  

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use 
asset) whenever:  

• The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

• The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a
floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

• A lease contract is modified, and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and the finance cost. The finance cost is charged to 
statement income over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability for each period. The constant periodic rate of interest is the discount rate used at the 
initial measurement of lease liability. 

For a contract that contain a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the 
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components. 

Sale and leaseback 

The Group enters into sale and leaseback transactions whereby it sells certain assets to a third-party and 
immediately leases them back. Where sale proceeds received are judged to reflect the fair value, any gain or 
loss arising on disposal is recognised in the statement of income, to the extent that it relates to the rights that 
have been transferred. Gains and losses that relate to the rights that have been retained are included in the 
carrying amount of the right of use asset recognised at commencement of the lease. Where sale proceeds 
received are not at the fair value, any below market terms are recognised as a prepayment of lease payments, 
and above market terms are recognised as additional financing provided by the lessor. 

Where the Group is the lessor 

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the 
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a 
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount 
of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

When a contract includes lease and non-lease components, the Company applies IFRS 15 to allocate 
consideration under the contract to each component. 

2.3.10 Foreign currencies 

Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in ‘Kuwaiti Dinars’ (KD), which is the Parent Company’s functional and the 
Group’s presentation currency. 

Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Kuwaiti Dinars using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses are resulted 
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end in the statement of income. 

Group companies 

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different from the 
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows (other than companies which 
are operating in high inflation countries): 

• Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that financial position.

• Income and expenses for each statement of income are translated at average exchange rates.

• All resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of other comprehensive income
items.

2.3.11 Dividends 

Dividend distribution to the Parent Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the consolidated 
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Parent Company’s shareholders. 

2.3.12 Fiduciary assets 

Assets which are kept by the Group as an agency or under a fiduciary capacity are not considered as Group's 
assets. 
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3. Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The 
Group continuously reviews its risk exposures and takes measures to limit it to acceptable levels. The Board of
Directors has the overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management
framework and developing and monitoring the risk management policies.

(a) Market risk

Foreign currency risks

The Group is exposed to the risk of foreign currency resulting primarily from dealing in financial instruments
with US Dollar. The risk of foreign exchange is resulting from future transactions on financial instruments in
foreign currency recorded in the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The Group has set policies for managing foreign exchange risk through careful monitoring of changes in
currency rates and its respective impact on the financial position of the Group, during the year. Also the Group
is dealing with financial institutions with high experience in this field to provide the Group with necessary
advisory in case of any significant change in foreign currencies’ rates.

In case of a change in the US Dollar against the Kuwaiti Dinar by 5% as at 31 December, the Group’s loss would
have changed by 5,893 and equity would have changed by KD 15,117 (profit KD 69,003 and equity KD 2,859 -
2021). 

Following is the net position of the foreign currencies as at 31 December: 
2022 2021 

US$ Surplus 1,036,510 1,401,441

Price risk 

Price risk is the risk arising from fluctuation of financial instrument value resulting from changes in market 
price. For managing this risk, the Group is monitoring market prices of these investments, and performing a 
periodic evaluation of the financial statements of the investees and determining its fair values through 
financial data available for these investments. 

The following sensitivity analysis shows the impact of the change in the index of the stock market on the 
Group’s equity. This analysis is based on the index change by 5% with all other variables held constant. 

Impact on equity 

2022 2021 

Kuwait Stock Exchange 214,520 154,502

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. 

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from bonds. The bonds placed at variable rates expose the Company to 
cash flow interest rate risk.  

The Group manages interest rate risk by diversification of interest rates between fixed and variable and 
borrowing funds at market linked floating interest rates and placing time deposits at the best available rates. 

At 31 December 2022, if interest rates at that date had been 0.25% higher/lower with all other variables held 
constant, loss for the year would have been lower/higher by KD 20,750 (KD 20,375 - 2021). 

The Group is managing this risk by locking the deposits for a short-term period relatively. The Group is 
periodically studying the factors related to interest rates to assess the possibility of an increase or decrease in 
interest rates for future periods, and the related impacts on the Group's cash flows and profits in addition to 
take the necessary action in order to mitigate such impact. 

(b) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because its customers, clients or counterparties failed to 
discharge their contractual obligations. 

Credit risk is managed by the Group by monitoring credit policy on regular basis taking into account to maintain 
non-concentration of credit risk. 
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Credit risk is highly concentrated in cash and cash equivalents, bonds, receivables and finance receivables. The 
Group keeps its cash and cash equivalents in financial institutions with high credit reputation and invests in 
bonds which have been issued from financial companies and institutions with high credit reputation. The 
Group grants credit only within the limits of the requirements and the normal course of business taking into 
consideration its financial position, past experience and reputation. 

Maximum exposure to credit risk 

An analysis of the Groups financial assets before taking into account other credit enhancements is as follows: 
2022 2021 

Cash at banks  609,004 640,044
Receivables  31,618 255,198
Finance receivables 2,198,780 4,145,711
Investments at amortized cost 648,628 648,628

3,488,030 5,689,581

Note 10 shows aging analysis of finance receivables and movement of provision. 

Credit risk measurement 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the 
other party to incur a financial loss. One of the main activities of the group that generates revenue is lending 
to customers. Credit risk is therefore a principal risk. Credit risk arises mainly from financing receivables. 
The Group considers all elements of credit risk exposure, such as default risk, geographic risk and sector risk 
for risk management purposes.  

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy 
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral values which is amounted to KD 5,717,197 against the finance 
receivable as of 31 December 2022 providing coverage percentage of 191%, as a mean of mitigating the risk 
of financial loss from defaults. The group only transacts with entities that are rated the equivalent of 
investment grade. Investment at amortised cost as detailed in note 7, where the counterparties have a 
minimum BBB credit rating, are considered to have low credit risk for the purpose of impairment assessment. 
The credit rating information is supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if not available, 
the Group uses other publicly available financial information. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of 
its counterparties are continuously monitored as well as the aggregate value of transactions. 

The finance receivable balances as at the end of the year of KD 2,198,780 (2021: KD 4,145,711) is due from 
NIG, the group’s related party with a good credit rating. Apart from that the group does not have other 
exposures.  

Also, the Group manages the credit risk by setting credit policies focus on careful assessment of 
creditworthiness of borrowers, in addition to the identification of the necessary guarantees received from the 
customers as well as setting a credit approval limit. 

The Group utilizes collaterals in reducing balances that are exposed to credit risk to an acceptable level. The 
credit policy identifies the type of collateral required for each type of transaction. The bases for assessment of 
those collaterals and the frequency of such assessment are also determined.  

The Group measures the credit risks in terms of the asset’s credit quality using two main methods, namely 
provisions proportion and non-performing finance receivables proportion. The non-performing finance 
receivables proportion is the ratio of non-performing finance receivables to the total finance receivables. 

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprise the following categories: 

Category Description Basis for recognising 

expected credit losses 

Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not 
have any past-due amounts. 

12- Months ECL 

Doubtful Amount is >30 days past due or there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition 

Lifetime ECL – not credit impaired 

In default Amount is >90 days past due or there is evidence 
indicating the asset is credit-impaired 

Lifetime ECL – credit-impaired 

Write – off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and the Group have no realistic 
prospect of recovery 

Amount is written off 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 
(All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinar unless otherwise stated) 

However, the ECL provision on these balances are not material to the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. The credit risk for bank balances and trade receivable is considered negligible, since the 
counterparties are reputable financial institution with high credit quality and no history of default, as well as 
the trade receivable is a minor amount, which majorly comprise of staff receivable. Based on the management 
assessment, the expected credit loss impact arising from such financial assets are insignificant to the Group as 
the risk of default has not increased significantly. 

Moreover, as per the CBK guidance, the company is supposed to report the higher of ECL or provision as per 
CBK regulations (note 2.3.2).  

Assessment of expected credit losses 

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default and therefore Stage 3 (credit impaired) for ECL 
calculations when: 

• the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held);

• the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Group: or

• borrower is considered as credit impaired based on qualitative assessment for internal credit risk
management purposes.

Any credit impaired or stressed facility that has been restructured would also be considered as in default. 

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets, as well as the Group’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades:  

The Group do not hold any financial guarantee contracts as of 31 December 2022 

Significant increase in credit risk 

The Group monitors all financial assets that are subject to impairment requirements to assess whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk the Group will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL. 

The quantitative criteria used to determine a significant increase in credit risk is a series of relative and absolute 
thresholds. All financial assets that are 30 days past due are deemed to have significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition and migrated to stage 2 even if other criteria’s do not indicate a significant increase in 
credit risk.  

The potential for default is that the obligor may fail to meet its obligations in the future. IFRS 9 requires the 
use of probability of default separately for a period of 12 months or over the life of the instruments based on 
the stage distribution for the obligor. The probability of default used in IFRS 9 should reflect the Group's 
estimate of the quality of the asset in the future. 

The calculation is based on statistical models. These statistical models are based on market data (where 
available), as well as internal data comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors. PDs are estimated 
considering the contractual maturities of exposures and estimated prepayment rates. The estimation is based 
on current conditions, adjusted to take into account estimates of future conditions that will impact PD. 

Exposure at default 

Exposure at default (“EAD”) represents the amount which the obligor will owe to the Group at the time of 
default. The Group considers variable exposures that may increase the EAD in addition to the drawn credit 
line. These exposures arise from undrawn limits and contingent liabilities. Therefore, the exposure will contain 
both on and off-balance sheet values. EAD is estimated taking into consideration the contractual terms such 
as rates, frequency, reference curves, maturity, pre-payment options, amortization schedule, usage given 
default, etc.  

Loss given default 

Loss given default (“LGD”) is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates LGD 
parameters based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models 

31 Dec 2022 Note External 
Credit 
Rating 

Internal 
Credit 
Rating 

12-month 
or lifetime 
ECL 

Stage Gross 
Carrying 
amount 

Loss 
allowance 

CBK 
Provision 

Net 
carrying 
amount 

Finance 
receivable 

10 BBB- BBB- 12 Month 
ECL 

1 2,231,172 123 32,392 2,198,780 

Investment 
held to 
maturity 

7 A3-Baa3 A3-Baa3 12 Month 
ECL 

1 650,000 1,372 - 648,628 
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consider the structure, collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty industry and recovery costs of any 
collateral that is integral to the financial asset. For all unsecured credit facilities, the Group considers a 
minimum of 50% LGD for senior debt and 75% LGD for subordinated debt.  

Incorporation of forward-looking information 

The Group considers key economic variables that are expected to have an impact on the credit risk and the 
ECL in order to incorporate forward looking information into the ECL models. These primarily reflect 
reasonable and supportable forecasts of the future macro-economic conditions. The consideration of such 
factors increases the degree of judgment in determination of ECL. The Group employs statistical models to 
incorporate macro-economic factors on historical default rates. The Group considers 3 scenarios (baseline, 
upside and downside) of forecasts of macro-economic data separately for each geographical segments and 
appropriate probability weights are applied to these scenarios to derive a probability weighted outcome of 
expected credit loss. The management reviews the methodologies and assumptions including any forecasts of 
future economic conditions on a regular basis. 

(c) Liquidity risk 

The liquidity risk is the risk that the Group becomes unable to settle its liabilities when due. 

The management of liquidity risk is mainly to maintain sufficient balance of cash, highly liquid financial 
instruments and financial resources are made available to meet the needs of liquidity. 

The Group monitors liquidity risk by maintaining Group of highly liquid financial investments. This facilitates the 
Group, the availability of liquidity when needed. In addition, the Group studies the extent of liquidity in these 
investments on a regular basis and adjusts the components of these assets when this is necessary. 

All outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 mature within one year from the consolidated 
financial statements date. 

3.2 Capital risk management 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns 
while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the equity balance.  

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity of the Group comprising issued capital, reserves and retained 
earnings. The Parent Company’s current strategy is to rely on the self-finance for the Group’s activities instead of 
depending on debts, and to maintain the external finance at minimum. 

3.3 Fair value estimation 

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows: 

• Level one:  Quoted prices in active markets for identical financial instruments.

• Level two:  Quoted prices in an active market for similar instruments. Quoted prices for identical assets or
liabilities in market that are not active. Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for 
assets and liabilities. 

• Level three: Inputs for the asset or liabilities that are not based on observable market data.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis 

The table below gives information about how the fair values of the financial assets are determined: 
Financial assets Fair value as at Fair value 

hierarchy 
Valuation 

technique(s) 
and Key 
input(s) 

Significant 
unobservable 

input(s) 

Relationship of 
unobservable inputs 

to fair value 

31/12/22 31/12/21 

Equity instruments designated as FVTPL 
Quoted Shares 4,472,554 4,288,133 1 Last bid price - - 
Unquoted Shares 4,590,439 2,876,071 3 Market 

Multiple / 
adjusted Net 
book value 

Discount 
rate, etc. 

The higher market 
risk the lower the 
fair value 

Equity instruments designated as 
FVTOCI 

- - 

Quoted Shares 4,290,404 3,090,145 1 Last bid price - - 
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Unquoted shares 572,000 887,861 3 Adjusted Net 
book value 

Book value 
adjusted with 
market risk 

The higher market 
risk the lower the 
fair value 

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements is as follows:  
Unquoted investments 
2022 2021 

Balance as at beginning year 3,763,932 1,120,210 

Change in fair value 1,935,916 112,057 

Disposal (537,409) - 

Addition - 2,531,664 

Balance as at ending year 5,162,439 3,763,932 

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, the management are required to make judgments and
estimates about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects future periods.

Judgements 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, 
which have the most significant effect on the assets recognised in the consolidated financial statements. 

Classification of investments in equity instruments 

On acquisition of an investment, the Group decides whether it should be classified as "FVTPL” or "FVTOCI". 
The Group follows the guidance of IFRS 9 on classifying its investments.  

The Group has designated all investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as these investments are strategic 
investments and are not held for trading.  

Sources of estimation uncertainty 

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.  

Fair value measurements and valuation techniques 

Certain assets and liabilities of the Group are measured at fair value for the purposes of preparing the financial 
statements. The Group’s management determines the main appropriate techniques and inputs required for 
measuring the fair value. In determining the fair value of assets and liabilities, management uses observable 
market data as appropriate, in case no observable market data is available the Group uses an external valuer 
qualified to do the valuation.  Information regarding the required valuation techniques and inputs used to 
determine the fair value of financial assets and liabilities is disclosed in notes (3.3 and 6). 

Impairment ECL of financial assets   

The Group estimates ECL for all financial assets carried at amortised cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income except for equity instruments. 

Significant judgements are required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as: 

• Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;

• Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for measurement of ECL;

• Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of
product/market and the associated ECL; and

• Establishing group of similar financial assets for the purpose of measuring ECL.

Probability of default: PD constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default 
over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of 
future conditions.  
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Loss Given Default: LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows 
from collateral and integral credit enhancements. 

Impairment of associates 

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any 
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associated companies, at each statement of financial position 
date based on existence of any objective evidence that the investment in associate is impaired. If this is the 
case the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of 
the associate and it is carrying value and recognises the impairment loss in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss. 

Any changes in these estimates and assumptions as well as the use of different, but equally reasonable 
estimates and assumptions may have an impact on the carrying value of the above assets (Note 8). 

Impairment of investment properties 

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of its investment properties to determine whether there is an 
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss if the fair values are below than the carrying 
values. The Group management determines the appropriate techniques and inputs required for measuring the 
fair value using observable market data and as appropriate, the Group uses reputed valuers qualified to do the 
valuation. 

5. Cash and cash equivalents
2022 2021 

Cash at banks 607,835 638,820
Cash on hand 727 787
Cash in investment portfolios 442 437

609,004 640,044

6. Financial Investments

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
2022 2021 

Quoted local shares  4,472,554 4,288,133
Unquoted local shares 4,590,439 2,876,071

9,062,993 7,164,204

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
2022 2021 

Quoted shares  4,290,404 3,090,145
Unquoted shares 572,000 887,861

4,862,403 3,978,006

The fair value has been determined based on valuation basis mentioned in note (3.3). 

The Group has pledged quoted Shares classified at fair value through profit and loss and Other comprehensive 
income with fair market value amounting to KD 5,391,225 as of 31 December 2022 (KD 5,358,150 – 
31 December 2021) against the credit facilities (Note 12).  

7. Investments at amortized cost

The effective interest rates on these bonds is 5.4% per annum (4.25% - 2021). The bonds have maturity dates
ranging between 2 to 4 years from the end of the reporting period. The balance includes an amount of
KD 298,823 represented in bonds which have been issued by related parties (Note 16).
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8. Investment in an Associate

The mainly associate of the Group as follow:
Company’s name Country of 

Incorporation 
Principal Activities Proportion of ownership 

interest (%) 
2022 2021 

Kuwait Financial Centre Kuwait 
Investment management and 

financial advisory 29.88 29.86

The Group’s share in the associate’s result and reserves are calculated using equity method based on the audited 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. Summarized financial information of the associate 
as at 31 December is as follows: 

2022 2021 

Total assets  198,110,453 198,224,808
Total liabilities  78,193,000 75,814,000
Non-controlling interest 29,680,000 31,229,000
Revenues 18,803,000 30,642,000
Profits for the year 4,676,000 16,729,000
Total other comprehensive income 591,000 ,000)20(9
Dividend received from the associate during the year 1,427,737 -

Movement on investments balance in the associate during the year are as follows: 
2022 2021 

Balance as at 1 January 23,529,997 19,559,996
Cash dividends  (1,427,737 ) -
Group’s share in associate’s results 853,198 4,474,873
Group’s share in associate’s reserves  165,171 (270,200)
Impairment on associate (1,079,081) -
Effect of change in ownership percentage of subsidiaries of associate 145,483 (234,672)

22,187,031 23,529,997

Following is the reconciliation of the above summarized financial information to the carrying amount of Group’s 
interest recognized in the consolidated financial statements: 

2022 2021 

Net assets of the associate 90,237,455 91,181,808
Group ownership percentage (%) 29.88 29.86

26,959,755 23,529,997
Impairment (4,772,724) (3,693,582)

22,187,031 23,529,997

The fair value of investment in an associate amounted to KD 15,141,150 (KD 25,556,491 – 2021) based on 
quoted price on Kuwait stock exchange which is Level 1 as at the consolidated financial position date. 

An assessment is made at each consolidated statement of financial position date to determine whether there 
is objective evidence that an associate may be impaired or there is any indication that impairment loss 
recognized in prior periods may no longer exist or may have decrease. Kuwait financial centre (Markaz) is 
engaged in the business of financial services under a license from the CMA.  

Investments in associates is tested for impairment/ reverse of impairment as a single asset, by comparing its 
recoverable amount with its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is determined based on the higher of 
value-in-use calculations and fair value less cost to sell. 

In order to assess the impairment in associate management have used multiple techniques relevant to the 
nature and operations of the associate to determine the fair value less cost to sell in addition to the discounted 
cash flows method to determine the value in use. 
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Following are the key assumption used in determining the value in use calculation. 
Key assumption Basis used to determine value to be assigned to key assumption 

Growth rate 2% per annum, considering the pandemic effects on GDP (Gross Domestic Product) 
Period of Cash flow Period of cash flow is 4 years 
Discount rate Discount rates used was kept at 9.62% 

The management has used the market approach and net asset value (NAV) approach to estimate the fair value 
of its investment in the associate using the past three years financial data with applying discount factors 
ranging from 10-20% to certain assets classes held by the associate while applying the NAV, these are mainly 
financial assets and investment properties.  

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis by varying these input factors by a reasonably possible margin 
and assessing whether the change in input factors result in the aggregate carrying amount.  

Based on the above analysis, the Group recognized an impairment loss of KD 1,079,142 during the current year 
as the recoverable amount of Markaz fell below the carrying amount as at 31 December 2022. 

The Group has pledged 102,900,000 shares (98,000,000 – Dec 2021) of its associate as of 31 December 2022 
with carrying amount of KD 15,229,200 (KD 16,151,013 - 2021) against the credit facilities. (Note 12).  

9. Investment properties

The movement for the investment properties is as follows:

Buildings Land 
Project under 
Construction Total 

Cost 
Balance at 1 January 2021 1,148,323 - 3,264,861 4,413,184 
Additions - - 626,302 626,302 

Balance at 31 December 2021 1,148,323 - 3,891,163 5,039,486 
Additions 175,846 - 287,001 462,847 
Transfer 3,490,813 687,351 (4,178,164) - 
Foreign currency translation 15,635 - - 15,635 

Balance at 31 December 2022 4,830,617 687,351 - 5,517,968 

Accumulated depreciation 
 and impairment  
Balance at 1 January 2021 (200,815) - (912,723) (1,113,538) 
Charge for the year   (29,388) - - (29,388) 
Impairment  - - (569,455) (569,455) 

Balance at 31 December 2021 (230,203) - (1,482,178) (1,712,381) 
Transfer  (1,238,345) (243,834) 1,482,178 - 
Depreciation Charge   (87,325) - - (87,325) 
Impairment  (255,266) (43,355) - (298,621) 
Foreign currency translation (3,584) - - (3,584) 

Balance at 31 December 2022 (1,814,723) (287,188) - (2,101,911) 

At 31 December 2022 3,015,894 400,163 - 3,416,057 

At 31 December 2021 918,557 - 2,409,045 3,327,602 

Rate of depreciation years 39 

The fair value of investment properties amounted to KD 3,968,526 as at 31 December 2022 (KD 3,769,369 – 
2021) has been determined based on valuations prepared by independent valuers, the independent valuers 
are licensed from relevant regulating bodies, and are industry specialised in valuing such type of investment 
properties. 

The fair value of investments properties was determined based on capitalization of net income method (Level 
3), where the market rental of all rentable units of the properties are assessed by reference to the rental 
achieved and letting of similar properties in neighbourhood. 

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the property is its current use. 

During the year, the company have recorded impairment loss for its investment properties located in Sharjah 
of KD 298,621 (Impairment KD 569,455 - 2021).  

10. Finance receivables

Finance receivables are represented in commercial loans granted to related parties. The effective interest rate
on these finance receivables is 5.83%.
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The fair value of the collaterals held against certain finance receivables is KD 5,715,354 as at 31 December 
2022 (KD 9,568,169 – 31 December 2021).  

The following is an analysis of outstanding balances and related provision. 
2022 2021 

Gross Loans balance  2,240,523 4,250,729
Less: deferred revenue (29,35 ) (52,279)

2,231,172 4,198,450
Less: Provision for credit losses – CBK general provision (232,39 ) (52,739)

Balance as at 31 December  2,198,780 4,145,711

The finance receivables (gross) amounted to KD  2,217,239 as at 31 December 2022 mature within one year 
and KD 23,284 mature after one year (KD 4,250,729 matured within one year – 2021) 

The balances of receivables as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 do not include matured past due, or impaired 
balances, and the entire balance is under stage 1 for the purpose of the ECL measurement. 

The general provision for credit losses is calculated in accordance with the instructions of the Central Bank of 
Kuwait. The movements on the general provision for credit losses is as follows: 

2022 2021 

Balance at 1 January  52,739 52,739
Addition 700 -
Reversal (21,047) -

Balance at 31 December 2022 32,392 52,739

The ECL for finance receivables to customers as at 31 December 2022 is KD 123 (Nil –  2021) Which is lower 
than the provision for impairment of finance receivables to customers required by CBK. 

11. Payables and other credit balances
2022 2021 

Accrued expenses  157,528 104,005
Staff leave and other benefits 706,331 833,336
Others  ,524225 226,866

1,089,383 1,164,207

12. Bank facilities:
2022 2021 

Bank facilities 8,300,000 8,150,000

The average interest rate on the credit facilities is 4% (4% - 2021) and the maturity date is 1 October 2023. The 
following assets are pledged against bank facilities as at 31 December 2022: 

- 102,900,000 shares of investments in associate (Note 8). 

- 11,025,001 shares of quoted investments (Note 6). 

13. Share capital and reserves

13.1 Share capital

As at 31 December 2022, the authorized issued and paid-up share capital is KD 30 million distributed over 300
million shares with a nominal value of 100 fils each (30 million distributed over 300 million shares with a
nominal value of 100 fils each - 2021), and all shares are in cash.

On 4 February 2018, the extraordinary General Assembly  decided to increase the issued and fully paid-up
capital from KD 30 million to authorized amount of KD 50 million and gave the authority to the BOD to decide
the amount, time of the issuance and the share premium (If any).

Based on the above on 9 November 2021 the Board of Directors have decided to increase the issued and paid-
up capital from KD 30 M to KD 39M at a nominal value of 100 Fils per share and no issuance premium. The
necessary procedures are being completed and the approval of the regulatory authorities is being obtained.

13.2 Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Companies Law and the Parent Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of net profit
before Board of Directors’ remuneration, National Labour Support Tax, Zakat expense and KFAS are transferred
to statutory reserve.  When the balance of the reserve exceeds 50% of share capital, the General Assembly is
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permitted to discontinue this transfer. The reserve could be utilized to secure payment of a dividend of 5% of 
share capital in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for payment of dividends.  

13.3 Voluntary reserve 

In accordance with the Parent Company’s Articles of Association, 1% of net profit before Board of Directors’ 
remuneration, National Labour Support Tax, Zakat expense and KFAS as proposed by the Board of Directors 
and approved by the General Assembly is transferred to the voluntary reserve. Such annual transfers may be 
discontinued by a resolution of the General Assembly based on the proposal of the Board of Directors. 

14. Treasury shares
2022 2021 

Number of shares 26,576 26,576
Percentage of issued shares (%) 0.008 0.008

The Parent Company is required to retain reserves and retained earnings equivalent to the cost of treasury 
shares throughout the year, in which they are held by the Parent Company, in accordance with the instructions 
of the relevant regulatory authorities. These shares are not pledged. 

15. Investment income

Investment income from financial assets at FVTPL 
2022 2021 

Cash dividends  189,423 214,163
Gain on change in fair value of investments through profit & loss 1,725,116 440,851
Realized gains 142,025 211,513

2,290,330 866,527

Investment income from financial assets at FVOCI 
2022 2021 

Cash dividends  244,566 26,633

Total Investment income 62,534,89 893,160

16. Related party transactions

Related parties are the shareholders of Parent Company who are represented in Board of Directors as well as
major shareholders and the companies in which any of its members is at the same time a board member in
the Company’s Board of Directors and associated companies. In the ordinary course of business, the Group
has carried out some transactions during the year with related parties. Transactions and balances are included
in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

2022 2021 
Transactions  
Remuneration of Key management personal 
Salaries and other short-term benefits 349,198 466,246
End of service indemnity 42,398 55,784

Investments 
Acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL - 2,540,731

Interest income – Shareholders 145,099 193,817

Balances 
Investments at amortized cost (Note 7) 298,823 298,823
Finance receivable (Note 10) – Shareholders 2,166,758 4,145,711
Payables and other credit balances  534,055 799,943

Finance receivable details are disclosed in note 10. 

Related parties’ transactions are subject to approval of shareholders’ general assembly. 
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17. Dividends

On 25th April 2022, the General Assembly for Shareholders of the Parent Company approved the Financial
Statement for the year ended 31 December 2021 and also approved the Board of Director’s recommendation
to distribute dividends of 5 fils per share for the year.

On 21 March 2023, The Board of Directors of the Parent Company have proposed distribution of cash dividends
of 5 fils share for the year ended 31 December 2022.

18. Fiduciary Assets

The Group manages portfolios on behalf of customers and maintains cash balances and securities in fiduciary
accounts which are not reflected on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The aggregate net asset
value held in a fiduciary capacity by the Group is KD 24,652,894 as at 31 December 2022 (KD 24,039,067 as at  
31 December 2021).

19. Segment information

In the purpose of management, the Group organizes its operations in two main sectors of business. The
following are the main activities and services that are underlined in such two sectors.

Investment activities: Investing in securities, funds, properties lending to corporate and individual customers
and managing the Group’s liquidity requirements.
Asset management and advisory services: Discretionary and non-discretionary investment portfolio
management, managing of local and international investment funds and providing advisory and structured
finance services and other related financial services.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on the return on investments. The Group does not have any significant inter-segment transactions.

The following table presents segment revenues, profits, assets, and liabilities related to the Group’s business
segments:

2022 

Investment 
activities 

Asset management 
and advisory services 

Total 

Segment revenues ,428092,4 21,603 2,431,031
Net loss 927,943 21,603 949,546
Segment assets 42,968,302 100,605 43,068,907
Segment liabilities  9,361,442 27,941 9,389,383

2021 

Investment 
activities 

Asset management 
and advisory services 

Total 

Segment revenues 5,037,006 33,467 5,070,473
Net profit 3,488,430 33,467 3,521,897
Segment assets 43,676,671 110,963 43,787,634
Segment liabilities  9,288,368 25,839 9,314,207

Geographical distribution of Group’s revenues, profits, assets and liabilities is set out below: 
2022 

Middle East USA Europe Total 

Segment revenues 2,321,731 109,171  - 2,431,031
Net Profit 937,424 23,198 (11,076 )  949,546
Assets  42,008,425 1,058,364 (2,118 )  43,068,907
Liabilities 9,363,220 26,163  - 9,389,383

2021 

Middle East USA Europe Total 

Segment revenues 4,949,895 120,578  - 5,070,473
Net profits 3,497,634 34,936 (10,673) 3,521,897
Assets  42,362,568 1,423,024 2,042 43,787,634
Liabilities 9,288,368 25,839  - 9,314,207
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